IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ROBINSON PROPERTY GROUP, LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

Appellant,

vs.

NO. 2008-TS-00256

MARY S. MITCHELL,

Appellee.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

APPEALED FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF TUNICA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CIVIL ACTION 2006-0268

Robert L. Moore, Esq.
Dawn Davis Carson, Esq.
J. Chandley Crawford, Esq.
HEATON AND MOORE, P.C.
100 North Main, Suite 3400
Memphis, Tennessee 38103
901-526-5975

Attorneys for Appellant

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ROBINSON PROPERTY GROUP, LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,

Appellant,

VS.

CAUSE NO: 2008-TS-00256

MARY S. MITCHELL,

Appellee.

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the trial court erred by refusing to allow the defendant to introduce evidence regarding the payment of plaintiff's medical expenses in light of her testimony on direct examination that the medical expenses incurred had "financially devastated" her.
- 2. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying Appellant's Motion for a New Trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of an incident at the Horseshoe Casino in Robinsonville, Mississippi on March 29, 2006 when Appellee claims that she was injured when she tripped on a chair in front of a slot machine that had a protruding bar. (Appellant R.E. 8). Ms. Mitchell filed a Complaint for damages on October 5, 2006 against the defendant Robinson Property Group, Limited Partnership. *Id.* The plaintiff alleges that the "chair" that the plaintiff tripped over was a slot stool which had been removed from the front of the slot machine. (Appellant R.E. 6). The plaintiff requested unspecified damages in her original Complaint. (Appellant R.E. 8).

Robinson Property Group, LP filed its Answer on October 23, 2006 denying that it was guilty of any act or omission that proximately caused injuries alleged in the plaintiff's complaint. (Appellant R.E. 9). Defendant further alleged comparative fault against the plaintiff. *Id*.

The matter was set for trial on November 13, 2007, before a jury and the Honorable Charles Webster. (Appellant R.E. 2). The plaintiff's case was supported by the testimony of the plaintiff; by testimony from Betty Jolly, a friend of the plaintiff and a witness to the alleged incident; by deposition testimony of an orthopedic surgeon; and by the testimony of defendant's corporate representative, Vickie Clark, called as an adverse witness. (Appellant R.E. 7). At the close of proof, the jury deliberated and returned a verdict for the plaintiff, assessing total damages of eighty thousand dollars (\$80,000.00) and assessing comparative fault against the plaintiff in the amount of (30%). (Appellant R.E. 4). Therefore, the total award was reduced by thirty percent (30%) to fifty six thousand dollars (\$56,000.00). *Id*.

Plaintiff filed a Motion for Additur on or about November 20, 2007 and Defendant filed a Motion for New Trial. (Appellant R.E. 12; Appellant R.E. 5). After hearing arguments from

both parties on both motions on January 9, 2008, the trial court entered separate Orders denying both plaintiff's Motion for Additur and defendant's Motion for New Trial on January 15, 2008. (Appellant R.E. 2; Appellant R.E. 14).

Defendant, Robinson Property Group, LP promptly filed its Notice of Appeal on February 8, 2008 and its Appeal Bond and Stay of Appeal on May 1, 2008. (Appellant R.E. 3). The bond and a surety were approved on May 2, 2008. This Honorable Court docketed and assigned a case number to this matter, as well as, provided a briefing schedule on May 5, 2008.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case involves a trip and fall incident that occurred on March 29, 2006 at the Horseshoe Casino in Robinsonville, Mississippi. (Appellant R.E. 8). The plaintiff stood up out of a chair, walked a short distance before stopping at a barricade and seemingly trying to decide which slot machine she wished to play. (R.Tran. Vol. I, p. 105, Appellant R.E. 6). She then took three steps, obviously lost her balance, and fell heavily on to her left side. (R.Tran. Vol. I, p. 155). The complaint alleges that the plaintiff "tripped on a chair in front of a slot machine that has a protruding bar sticking out." (Appellant R.E. 8). It appears that the "chair" that the plaintiff tripped over was a slot stool which had been removed from the front of a slot machine and stacked with nine other stools in front of the slot machines. (Appellant R.E. 6).

The slot bank at which the plaintiff sought to play was, at the time of the incident, barricaded off by a rope. *Id.* The plaintiff testified insistently that the machine she was going to play was not in an area which was barricaded off and adamantly denied the presence of any rope barricade whatsoever. (R.Tran. Vol. I, p. 106, 108, R. Tran. Vol. I, p. 154, 155, 156). She even denied ever seeing the slot stool that in her complaint she alleges caused her to fall. (R.Tran. Vol. I, p. 155). In her testimony, the plaintiff was unable to state with conviction what caused her fall, but whatever caused the fall, it resulted in a fracture of her left leg. (R.Tran. Vol. I, p. 110). She was transported by ambulance to a local Memphis hospital where she was stabilized and released. *Id.* Several days later she underwent surgery to repair the fracture. (R.Tran. Vol. I, p. 111).

Her surgery was performed in an expert manner by Dr. Andrew Murphy who testified that the treatment which he performed was without complication. (Appellant R.E. 11). He

further testified that the plaintiff's recovery was without complication and that he was "pleased" with her overall postoperative course. *Id.* Dr. Murphy testified that the plaintiff's ultimate outcome was significantly better than it could have been; that her postoperative level pain was part of the usual and expected constellation of symptoms which occurs post-operatively; that she was released to return to her former employment by no later than April 18, 2007; and that he has not seen the plaintiff professionally since April 18, 2007. *Id.* Finally, Dr. Murphy testified that he does not reasonably expect any future medical expenses on the part of the plaintiff. *Id.* The plaintiff has returned to her former activities of daily living. *Id.*

At the trial of this matter, the plaintiff took the stand and testified, as follows:

- Q: You have told the jury what expenses you have incurred. What are you asking the jury to give you in the way of compensation to compensate you for this injury?
- A: Well, I just want the jury to determine that, except I would like to have the medical bills and my expenses, and, of course, that's really just partial expenses. I couldn't even think of everything that I have spent and the gas and the cost of everything, the going back and forth to physical therapy and all that, but I think the jury would be fair in awarding whatever they feel would be right for something as serious as this.
- Q: Do you think that out to be a substantial sum of money, more than the fifty thousand dollars medical expenses you have?
- A: Well, I would hope so. I had to---I borrowed money to live on. I refinanced my house. I know that not a problem I'm supposed to bring up, but it has---it's devastated me financially, too."

(R.Tran. Vol. I, p. 122; see also R.Tran. Vol. I, pp. 139, 140, 142). No supporting documentation was presented to the jury in the form of testimony; in the form of medical records from other physicians; or any other form other than the brief medical bills which were provided as backup to defense counsel but which were not admitted into evidence. (R. Tran. Vol. I, p. 149).

The few backup bills which were provided (but not admitted into evidence) did not support the plaintiff's testimony and created a huge credibility issue for the plaintiff. (R.Tran. Vol. I, pp. 135-149). By way of example, the plaintiff claimed that a bill for a urinary tract infection for which she was treated two months after subject accident was somehow related to the fracture of her ankle. (R.Tran. Vol. I, pp. 143-144). The plaintiff claimed that bills for routine blood work assessing her cholesterol and glucose levels in August 2007 were related to the incident which had occurred seventeen months previously. (R.Tran. Vol. I, pp. 144-145). The plaintiff had no answer for why the amount of the bills listed on the summary sheet was thousands of dollars greater than was shown on the supporting documentation. (R.Tran. Vol. I, pp. 147-149). The most egregious of all of this was the plaintiff's claim for \$10,198.00 allegedly owed to the Sutherland Cardiology Clinic for treatment that dated back to June 1996. (R.Tran. Vol. I, p. 146). Upon being confronted with these inconsistencies, the plaintiff finally admitted that she could not vouch for the truthfulness or accuracy of the medical summary, and although the plaintiff testified repeatedly that true and correct copies of the bills were "in the car," those bills and records never came to the courtroom and never were given to the jury. (R.Tran. Vol. I, pp. 147-149).

No other witnesses testified on behalf of the plaintiff and in support of her damages other than her lifelong friend, Betty Jolly. While it's certainly true that Mrs. Jolly testified concerning the immediate effects of the injury, notably absent from her testimony was any evidence of ongoing problems. (R.Tran. Vol. II, pp. 182-183). Also notably absent from the plaintiff's case in chief was any corroborating testimony from any other sources such as family, work colleagues, other physicians are even medical records custodians. (Appellant R.E. 7).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for denial of a motion for new trial under Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 59 is abuse of discretion. *Poole v. Avara, et al.*, 908 So.2d 716, 726 (Miss. 2005). The "abuse of discretion" standard means that unless the judge's decision is found to be arbitrary and clearly erroneous it will stand. *Id.* at 721, citing *Mississippi Transportation Commission v. McLemore*, 863 So.2d 31, 34 (Miss. 2003). "A new trial may be granted in a number of circumstances, such as when the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, or when the jury has been confused by faulty jury instructions, or when the jury has departed from its oath and its verdict is a result of bias, passion, prejudice." *Id.* at 726-727, citing *Shields v. Easterling*, 676 So.2d 293, 298 (Miss. 1996) (quoting *Bobby Kitchens, Inc. v. Miss. Ins. Guar. Ass'n*, 560 So.2d 129, 132 (Miss. 1989)). The Court will not set aside a jury's verdict and order a new trial unless it is "convinced of the verdict was contrary to substantial weight of the evidence so that justice requires the new trial granted." *Id.* at 727, citing *Jesco, Inc. v. Whitehead*, 451 So.2d 706, 713-14 (Miss. 1984).

STATEMENT OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court abused its discretion by failing to grant the defendant's Motion for New Trial. In considering a Motion for New Trial the trial court should consider and weigh the following factors:

"(1) whether search for true facts proceeded as far as it reasonably could under the facts of the case; (2) to what extent would it be unfair to the prevailing party to give the adversary a second bite at the apple; (3) considering the evidence, was there a substantial basis for believing that the jury disregarded their oaths and failed to follow instructions; (4) assuming arguendo that the verdict was unjust, was the impact of that injustice upon the party against who the verdict was returned; (5) if a new trial is ordered, will the prevailing party be deprived of some fair advantage he enjoyed in the first trial; and (6) are there any other factors present that would render just or unjust the grant or denial of a new trial."

Janssen Phamaceutica, Inc. v. Bailey, et al., 878 So.2d 31, 60-61 (Miss. 2004), citing Jesco, Inc. V. Whitehead, 451 So.2d 706, 715-16 (Miss. 1984). In the instant case, the trial court did not surmount the first hurdle. It failed to allow the "search for true facts" to proceed "as far as it reasonably could under the facts of the case" when it refused to allow the Defendant to introduce evidence which the Mississippi Supreme Court and Court of Appeals has called "relevant," "necessitated by the plaintiff's own testimony," and "unfairly prejudicial" if excluded.

ARGUMENT

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ALLOW DEFENDANT TO SUBMIT EVIDENCE ON THE PAYMENT OF PLAINTIFF'S MEDICAL EXPENSES.

Presumptively, the trial court denied the defendant's motion and did not allow the jury to consider the proper of evidence based upon that the "collateral source rule." Under this rule,

"A defendant tortfeasor is not entitled to have damages for which he is liable reduced by reason of the fact the plaintiff has received compensation for his injury by and through a totally independent source, separate and apart from the defendant tortfeasor."

Central Bank of Mississippi v. Butler, 517 So.2d 507 (Miss. 1987). At least up until 1992, the "courts of the State of Mississippi has never recognized exceptions the collateral source rule."

McCary v. Caperton, 601 So.2d 866, 869 (Miss. 1992). That is no longer the case.

In the case *Busick v. St. John*, 856 So.2d 304 (Miss. 2003), the Mississippi Supreme Court reaffirmed and restated the "collateral source rule" as providing that

"[c]ompensation or indemnity for the loss received by the plaintiff from a collateral source, wholly independent of the wrongdoer, as if from an insurance, cannot be set up by the defendant in mitigation or reduction of damages."

Id. at 309 (emphasis supplied). In Busick, the plaintiff was cross-examined at trial regarding the existence of insurance, apparently while plaintiff's counsel napped at the counsel table, and on appeal, the plaintiff complained that the court should have excluded this cross-examination based upon the collateral source rule. The Mississippi Supreme Court rejected this assignment of error based solely upon the fact that plaintiff's counsel failed to make a timely objection, but in rejecting the assignment of error, the Mississippi Supreme Court found that the cross examination was otherwise probative because "the evidence related to [plaintiff's] health

insurance was admitted to impeach her testimony"; that the cross examination "discredited her testimony"; and that "the testimony was not solicited for purposes of mitigating her loss or producing damages" but instead clearly for purposes of impeachment and credibility. *Id.* at 869.

The fact that *Busick* impliedly recognize the impeachment exception to the collateral source rule was made crystal-clear by the Mississippi Court of Appeals in the case *Geske v. Williamson*, 945 So.2d 429 (Miss.Ct.App. 2006) where, under circumstances strikingly similar to those before the Court today, the Court held:

"Further, not admitting evidence of the plaintiff's financial situation would be unfairly prejudicial to the defendant. Throughout the trial, plaintiff's counsel and witnesses made numerous references to their dire financial situation because of the lack of financial means to pay for necessary medical services. At one point, the plaintiff's son, under direct examination, suggested to the jury that the plaintiff might have had a different outcome if he had a CT scan which "he was denied... because he did not have insurance." It follows that because of the supposedly dire financial situation and the lack of health insurance, this situation caused the emotional distress damages sought by the plaintiff. Thus, it was incumbent upon the defense counsel to show the jury that the plaintiff could actually afford these medical procedures, even without insurance. Therefore, the evidence that the plaintiff had received asbestos settlement proceeds was relevant to the issue of whether the plaintiff suffered emotional distress as a result of the lack of insurance coverage and necessitated by a plaintiff's own testimony at trial."

Id. at 434-35 (emphasis supplied). In its holding, the Geske court took what had been implied and stated very plainly that:

"the collateral source rule applies only when evidence of other compensation is used for the purpose of mitigating damages. (Citing Busick) If the evidence is used for a purpose other than to lessen damages, the collateral source rule is not violated... we agree that the evidence of the mesothelioma settlement was not used to mitigate the damages caused to the Geskes, but was used to prove that the emotional damages did not, in fact, occur. Thus, the evidence was properly admitted."

Id. at 435.

In the case now before the court, the credibility of the plaintiff was directly in issue on all issues, both liability and damages. The plaintiff had already testified, on her oath, that she had incurred in excess of \$45,000.00 in medical expenses, all of which were directly and solely related to her fractured ankle, but that testimony, as was later shown on cross-examination, was patently false. She had also testified on her oath that she did not see a barricade which was blocking off the slot machines, nor could she see the ten separate chairs which were "unattached" and "double parked" in front of slot machines, but that testimony, too, was contradicted by a video of the actual event. Because the trial court did not allow the defendant to introduce into evidence the plaintiff's Medicare and supplemental insurance policies, the defendant was deprived of its ability to demonstrate the fact that the plaintiff was also not truthful concerning the "financial devastation" resulting from these medical bills.

The Geske court has well said that when a plaintiff testifies to untrue facts, it is incumbent upon defense counsel during cross examination to introduce relevant evidence to negate the improper inference necessitated by the plaintiff's untrue testimony, and that a court which excludes this cross-examination has unfairly prejudiced the defense. Robinson Property Group cannot argue its position any better than this court has already held. It was plain error for the trial court to exclude relevant information, necessitated by the plaintiff's testimony when doing so would unfairly prejudice the defense.

B. THE TRIAL COURT'S ERROR AMOUNTED TO ABUSE OF DISCRETION WHEN IT FAILED TO GRANT DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL

When considering whether to grant a Motion for New Trial, this Court has held that the following factors should be weighed by the trial court:

"(1) whether search for true facts proceeded as far as it reasonably could under the facts of the case; (2) to what extent would it be unfair to the prevailing party to give the adversary a second bite at the apple; (3) considering the evidence, was there a substantial basis for believing that the jury disregarded their oaths and failed to follow instructions; (4) assuming arguendo that the verdict was unjust, was the impact of that injustice upon the party against who the verdict was returned; (5) if a new trial is ordered, will the prevailing party be deprived of some fair advantage he enjoyed in the first trial; and (6) are there any other factors present that would render just or unjust the grant or denial of a new trial."

Janssen Phamaceutica, Inc. v. Bailey, et al., 878 So.2d 31, 60-61 (Miss. 2004), citing Jesco, Inc. v. Whitehead, 451 So.2d 706, 715-16 (Miss. 1984). In the instant case, the trial court's error in failing to allow the Defendant to proffer evidence regarding the payment of Plaintiff's medical bills when faced with Plaintiff's obvious credibility issue during testimony requires that the trial court grant a new trial on the basis of the first factor listed by the Janssen court.

When assessing the merits of a Motion for New Trial, the trial court should first consider "whether search for true facts proceeded as far as it reasonably could under the facts of the case." Failure to allow the Defendant to present evidence of the payment of plaintiff's medical bills when faced with her self-contradictory testimony from the stand at the trial did not allow the search for "true facts" to proceed "as far as it reasonably could under the facts of the case." The facts in this case are that the plaintiff submitted a summary of medical bills that she claimed were true and accurate on direct examination but when confronted with inconsistencies on cross-examination admitted that she could not vouch for the accuracy of the summary. The witness's credibility was thus an issue and, therefore, her attempt to play to the jury's sympathy with a claim that she was "financially devastated" by the medical bills warranted further exploration at trial. This court has ruled that as an exception to the collateral source rule a party may offer evidence of payment of medical bills if it is not an attempt to mitigate damages related to those

bills and if it is **relevant** evidence to negate the improper inference **necessitated** by the plaintiff's untrue testimony. A court which excludes this cross-examination has **unfairly prejudiced** the defense and failed to permit the search for true facts to proceed as far as reasonably necessary thus a Motion for New Trial should be granted.

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