#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# Supreme Court Docket No. 2008-TS-00256

ROBINSON PROPERTY GROUP, LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

MARY S. MITCHELL

**APPELLEE** 

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Tunica County, Mississippi Civil Action Number: 2006-0268

#### BRIEF OF APPELLEE MARY S. MITCHELL

Oral Argument Requested

ROBERT Q. WHITWELL (MS Attorney for Appellee MARY S. MITCHELL

ROBERT Q. WHITWELL Farese, Farese & Farese, P.A. 1308 North Lamar Boulevard, Ste. 8 Oxford, Mississippi 38655 Telephone: 662-281-5884

Facsimile:

662-232-8074

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### Supreme Court Docket No. 2008-TS-00256

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

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Defendant Horseshoe Casino argues (as its first assignment of error) that the trial court erred by failing recognize an impeachment exception to the collateral source rule and by failing to allow the Defendant to introduce evidence (for impeachment purposes) that Mrs. Mitchell's medical bills had been paid by a third-party payor. Defendant Horseshoe Casino also argues (as its second assignment of error) that the trial court abused its discretion by failing to grant the Defendant's *Motion for New Trial*. The basis for the motion for a new trial was that the Defendant had been limited in its ability to impeach the Plaintiff's (Mrs. Mitchell) testimony because the trial court refused to recognize an impeachment exception to the collateral source rule. Thus, if the Defendant's first assignment of error is without merit, the Defendant's second assignment of error is also without merit; conversely, if the Defendant's first assignment of error need not even be discussed.

A thorough review of Mississippi case law indicates that no Mississippi court has yet recognized an impeachment exception to the collateral source rule; therefore, the Defendant's first assignment of error is wholly without merit, and the Defendant's appeal should be dismissed, the trial court's judgment should be affirmed.

\*\*\*\*\*

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The *Notice of Appeal* filed herein by Defendant Horseshoe Casino recites that the Defendant is appealing "the court's order denying defendant's motion for new trial entered with the clerk on January 15, 2008." [C.P. 175; R.E. Tab 3] The Defendant's *Motion for New Trial* had alleged that "the court committed reversible error in two specific respects" which were identified as (1) "denying the defendant's motion for directed verdict" (at both the close of the Plaintiff's case-in-chief and at the close of all evidence), and (2) "refusing to allow the defendant to introduce evidence of the fact that the plaintiff's medical expenses had been paid in their virtual entirety by Medicare and Blue Cross Blue Shield supplemental health insurance." [C.P. 139-140; R.E. Tab 5]

"The standard of review on a motion for a new trial is abuse of discretion." *Johnson* v. St. Dominics-Jackson Memorial Hosp., No. 2006-CA-01696-SCT, 967 So.2d 20, 23 (¶8) (Miss. 2007). See also Smith v. Crawford, No. 2004-CT-00257-SCT, 937 So.2d 446, 447 (¶5) (Miss. 2006) ("The standard of review for considering a trial court's decision denying a motion for a new trial is whether the trial court abused it discretion."); Poole v. Avara, No. 2004-CA-01000-SCT, 908 So.2d 716, 726 (¶25) (Miss. 2005) ("The standard of review in considering a trial court's denial of a motion for a new trial is ... abuse of discretion."); and, Bobby Kitchens, Inc. v. Mississippi Ins. Guar. Ass'n, 560 So.2d 129, 132 (Miss. 1989) ("This Court will reverse a trial judge's denial of a request for new trial only when such denial amounts to a [sic] abuse of that judge's discretion.").

Abuse of discretion occurs where the decision of the trial judge "was arbitrary and clearly erroneous." *Mississippi Transportation Commission v. McLemore*, No. 2001-CA-01039-SCT, 863 So.2d 31, 34 (¶ 4) (Miss. 2003).

As noted, the Defendant's *Motion for New Trial* alleges the trial court erred by "denying the defendant's motion for directed verdict." With regard to denial of motions for directed verdict, the Mississippi Supreme Court has stated:

Our standards of review for a denial of a judgment notwithstanding the verdict and a directed verdict are ... identical. [Citation omitted.] Under this standard, this Court will:

consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the appellee, giving that party the benefit of all favorable inference that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence. If the facts so considered point so overwhelmingly in favor of the appellant that reasonable men could not have arrived at a contrary verdict, we are required to reverse and render. On the other hand if there is substantial evidence in support of the verdict, that is, evidence of such quality and weight that reasonable and fair minded jurors in the exercise of impartial judgment might have reached different conclusions, affirmance is required.

#### [Citation omitted.]

Sperry-New Holland, a Div. of Sperry Corp. v. Prestage, 617 So.2d 248, 252 (Miss. 1993). See also Steele v. Inn of Vicksburg, Inc., 697 So.2d 373, 376 (Miss. 1997) (quoting Sperry-New Holland). See also Johnson v. St. Dominics-Jackson Memorial Hosp., No. 2006-CA-01696-SCT, 967 So.2d 20, 23 (¶9) (Miss. 2007) ("Evidence is weighed in the light most favorable to the verdict."), and Cash Distributing Co., Inc. v. Neely, No. 2004-CT-01124-SCT, 947 So.2d 286, 296 (¶34) (Miss. 2007) ("... we must leave the jury

verdict undisturbed unless we find that, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to [the appellee], no reasonable, rational juror could have reached the same conclusion.").

\* \* \*

# B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO ALLOW DEFENDANT HORSESHOE CASINO TO SUBMIT EVIDENCE ON THE PAYMENT OF PLAINTIFF'S MEDICAL EXPENSES

Defendant Horseshoe Casino, in its *Brief for Appellant* (at p. 9), sets forth its first assignment of error as follows, to-wit:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ALLOW DEFENDANT TO SUBMIT EVIDENCE ON THE PAYMENT OF PLAINTIFF'S MEDICAL EXPENSES.

Defendant Horseshoe Casino then begins its argument (in its *Brief for Appellant*, at 9), as follows:

Presumptively, the trial court denied the defendant's motion and did not allow the jury to consider the proper [sic] of evidence based upon that [sic] the "collateral source rule."

Without making any presumptions at all, the "collateral source rule" is the reason the trial judge prohibited Defendant Horseshoe Casino from putting evidence before the jury that most of Mrs. Mitchell's medical bills had been paid by a third party (either Medicare or Blue Cross Blue Shield insurance), which is a "collateral source." When the matter first came up in the trial, as Mrs. Mitchell was tendered for cross-examination, the attorney for Defendant Horseshoe Casino argued that:

... when the witness testifies that because of the huge medical expenses that she has incurred, she has been financially devastated, to the point where she has had to refinance her house and these other things, all of which she would like the jury to believe is on account of the accident, the injuries, the medical bills incurred ... then I am entitled to be able to demonstrate that those bills were paid by Blue Cross Blue Shield and not by her.

[T. 123] Whereupon, Mrs. Mitchell's attorney stated to the trial judge that "the collateral source rule blocks what he's talking about," to which the trial judge agreed, stating, "... certainly it's something that falls under the collateral source rule, although it seemed to be — she did testify that she was financially devastated. [T. 123-124] Following a short break in the trial, the trial judge stated to the attorneys that he had reviewed some case law and had found one case which he stated "I would have to construe as evidence of collateral source for purposes of impeachment," but another case stated emphatically "that there was no impeachment exception to the collateral source rule" and allowing impeachment by way of such evidence "constituted reversible error." [T. 129-130] The trial judge then specifically ruled:

... I'm not going to permit you to go into collateral source. I'm going to say that you're not entitled to, and that's going to be my ruling on it.

 $[T. 130]^{14}$ 

The "collateral source rule," as applied by the trial court in the case *sub judice*, has been enunciated and applied many times by the Mississippi Supreme Court, to-wit:

Under the issues presented in this cause, the fact that the loss of either of the parties was covered by insurance was not proper to be admitted in evidence. In 25 C.J.S., *Damages*, § 99, page 647, it is provided:

'The wrongdoer is not entitled to have the damages to which he is liable reduced by proving that plaintiff has received or will receive compensation or indemnity for the loss from a collateral source,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>One of the cases reviewed by the trial judge during the break during the trial was *McCary* v. Caperton, 601 So.2d 866 (Miss. 1992).

wholly independent of him. Under this general rule, insurance in behalf of the injured person cannot be set up by the wrongdoer in mitigation of the loss.'

Ward v. Mitchell, 216 Miss. 379, 385, 62 So.2d 388, 391 (Miss. 1953).15

When the trial court denied Defendant Horseshoe Casino's *Motion for New Trial*, the trial judge issued a well-considered and well-reasoned eleven-page order in which the trial court reviewed Mrs. Mitchell's testimony and in which the trial court discussed the decisions of the Mississippi Supreme Court and the Mississippi Court of Appeals in *McCary v*. *Caperton*, 601 So.2d 866 (Miss. 1992), *Busick v. St. John*, No. 2002-CA-01011-SCT, 856 So.2d 304 (Miss. 2003), *Burr v. Mississippi Baptist Medical Center*, No.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>See also, e.g., Coker v. Five-Two Taxi Service, 211 Miss. 820, 826, 52 So.2d 356, 357 (Miss. 1951) (citing 25 C.J.S., Damages, § 99, and 15 Am. Jur., Damages, § 201); Clary v. Global Marine, Inc., 369 So.2d 507, 510 (Miss. 1979) ("Mississippi has a 'collateral source' rule under which compensation received by a plaintiff from a collateral source wholly independent of wrongdoer cannot be set up in mitigation or reduction of damages."); Preferred Risk Mut. Ins. Co. v. Courtney, 393 So.2d 1328, 1331 (Miss. 1981) (Under the collateral source rule, "a tort feasor is not entitled to have the damages for which he is liable reduced by proving that an injured party has received compensation from a collateral source wholly independent of the tort feasor."); Star Chevrolet Co. v. Green by Green, 473 So.2d 157, (Miss. 1985) (Under "the collateral source rule ... an adverse party is not entitled to have the damages to which he is liable reduced by proving that the plaintiff has received or will receive compensation or indemnity for the loss from a collateral source."); Central Bank of Mississippi v. Butler, 517 So.2d 507, 511-12 (Miss. 1987) ("Under [the collateral source] rule, a defendant tortfeasor is not entitled to have damages for which he is liable reduced by reason of the fact that the plaintiff has received compensation for his injury by and through a totally independent source, separate and apart from the defendant tortfeasor,"); Eaton v. Gilliland, 537 So.2d 405, 408 (Miss. 1988) ("Mississippi has adopted and follows the 'collateral source rule."); McCary v. Caperton, 601 So.2d 866, 869 (Miss. 1992) ("Mississippi has adopted and follows the 'collateral source rule.'"); Gatlin v. Methodist Medical Center, Inc., No. 1999-CA-00269-SCT, 772 So.2d 1023, 1033-34 (¶ 32) (Miss, 2000); Brandon HMA, Inc. v. Bradshaw, No. 2000-CA-00735-SCT, 809 So.2d 611 (Miss. 2001) (in which it was held that Medicaid payments are subject to the collateral source rule); Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Frierson, No. 2000-CA-00364-SCT, 818 So.2d 1135. 1139-40 (¶ 7) (Miss. 2002) (Medicaid benefits are subject to the collateral source rule); Coho Resources, Inc. v. McCarthy, No. 97-CA-01447-SCT, 829 So.2d 1, 18-19 (¶ 53) (Miss. 2002); and, Burr v. Mississippi Baptist Medical Center, No. 2003-CA-01551-SCT, 909 So.2d 721, 729 (¶ 23) (Miss. 2005).

2003-CA-01551-SCT, 909 So.2d 721 (Miss. 2005), and, *Geske v. Williamson*, No. 2004-CA-01730-COA, 945 So.2d 429 (Miss. App. 2006).

After discussing the aforesaid decisions, the *Order Denying Defendant's Motion for New Trial* states: "Historical precedence [sic] suggest that there is no impeachment exception to the collateral source rule." [C.P. 169; R.E. Tab 2] The trial judge, in the order, also stated that "this court is of the opinion that even if the denial of the impeachment evidence was error, it does not rise to the level as to require a new trial." [C.P. 169; R.E. Tab 2] The trial judge stated that "this court is of the view that the plaintiff's credibility was significantly impeached" due to the inclusion of the \$10,198.00 bill from Sutherland Clinic which predated the incident at the casino, and the trial judge noted "the size of the verdict compared to the plaintiff's claimed medical expenses suggest [sic] that plaintiff's credibility had been called into question." [C.P. 170; R.E. Tab 2] The trial judge stated:

This court is of the opinion that the added impeachment of the plaintiff by the introduction of evidence regarding the insurance payments would have added only minuscule more injury to the plaintiff, if any. For these reasons, the Motion for New trial [sic] will be denied.

#### [C.P. 170; R.E. Tab 2]

Defendant Horseshoe Casino, in its *Brief for Appellant* (at p. 10), claims that the Mississippi Supreme Court, in its opinion in *Busick v. St. John*, No. 2002-CA-01011-SCT, 856 So.2d 304 (Miss. 2003), implied that there is an "impeachment exception to the collateral source rule," and that the Mississippi Court of Appeals (which hereinafter may be referred to as the "COA"), in its opinion in *Geske v. Williamson*, No. 2004-CA-01730-COA, 945 So.2d 429 (Miss. App. 2006), specifically recognized an impeachment exception to the

collateral source rule. Therefore, Defendant Horseshoe Casino argues the trial court committed error by refusing to allow the Defendant to impeachment Mrs. Mitchell's testimony with evidence demonstrating that most of her medical bills had been paid by a third-party payor (either Medicare or Blue Cross Blue Shield). As will be shown herein, *infra*, the Defendant's argument is wrong.

As noted, *supra*, the trial judge specifically reviewed the cases of *McCary v. Caperton*, *Busick v. St. John*, *Burr v. Mississippi Baptist Medical Center*, and *Geske v. Williamson* before denying Defendant Horseshoe Casino's motion for a new trial; thus, those cases should be reviewed here. First, in *McCary* (a 1992 case), where the plaintiff was seeking recovery for injuries alleged to have been suffered in an automobile accident, the plaintiff was claiming lost wages even though the plaintiff had been granted sick leave and had received sick pay while off of work. The defendant put evidence of the plaintiff's receipt of sick pay before the jury, arguing that the plaintiff was engaged in a "scam" by trying to collect for injuries the plaintiff never actually suffered. The Mississippi Supreme Court held that it was reversible error for the trial court to have allowed such evidence:

We have never recognized such an exception to the collateral source rule, and we refrain from doing so here. It is true that the rule as stated in [Central Bank of Mississippi v. Butler, 517 So.2d 507 (Miss.1987)] does not squarely fit this case. McCary did not "receive" compensation from an independent source since she never filed an insurance claim. However, Ward v. Mitchell, 216 Miss. 379, 62 So.2d 388 (1953), states that the collateral source rule applies not only where a claimant has already received compensation from an independent source but also where the potential for such compensation exists. We hold that the trial court committed reversible error in allowing the defendant to introduce evidence of McCary's insurance coverage or benefits of sick leave.

McCary, 601 So.2d at 869 (emphasis added).

Next, in *Busick* (a 2003 case), the case which Defendant Horseshoe Casino claims the Mississippi Supreme Court implied it would recognize an "impeachment exception to the collateral source rule," the plaintiff (Busick) testified that she was not able to continue physical therapy for injuries caused by the accident because she could not afford it and the defendant (St. John), as impeachment evidence, introduced evidence that Busick had paid only \$45.00 as her part of those medical expenses. On appeal, Busick argued that it was error to allow St. John to impeach her by eliciting testimony in which she was forced to make reference to payments made by her health insurance provider, but St. John pointed out that Busick made no objection to the testimony at the time. The Mississippi Supreme Court held that Busick's argument had no merit, in part because her attorney failed to either make a timely objection or a timely motion for a mistrial; furthermore, Busick's attorney asked for, and was granted, a limiting instruction, which the attorney indicated was a satisfactory cure of the problem. Notably, the Court observed:

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